1980

## State of Utah v. Max D. Giles : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This appeal is from the decision of the Third Judicial District Court denying the defendant's appeal from a criminal conviction in the First Circuit Court, Coalville Department.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The defendant-appellant was found guilty in the First Circuit Court, Coalville Department, by Judge Keller, of wreckless operation of a motor boat. An appeal was taken from the judgment to the District Court and Judge David B. Dee confirmed the lower court's finding.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks to have this Court reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and the District Court and dismiss the criminal charge which was filed against the appellant.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 29, 1979, the defendant, Max Giles, was issued a citation by the State of Utah selected State of Utah vs. Max D. Giles. That citation charged Mr. Giles with exceeding a slow wakeless speed in violation of section 73 18-17(3). Mr. Giles was ordered to report to the Court by August 14, 1979. (Record, p. 1)

On July 31, 1979, the Fifth Judicial District Circuit Court mailed a letter to Mr. Max D. Giles in which Mr. Giles was told that he had three alternatives available to him to resolve the citation. The first paragraph indicated that he could post bail in the sum of \$25.00 and that that bail would be forfeited and the case would be closed. (R., p.2) Mr. Giles selected the alternative set forth in paragraph one and on August 12, 1979, forwarded his personal check to the Summit County Clerk's Office for the sum of \$25.00. That check was receipted by the Fifth Circuit Court and a copy of Receipt No. 0318 was forwarded to Mr. Giles indicating that on August 15, 1979, the court received the \$25.00 check. The receipt indicated that the money was bail and fine. (R., p.3) On September 30, 1979, the Fifth Circuit Court Clerk forwarded the \$25.00 received from the defendant to the Division of Parks and Recreation along with other monies that

habeas accepted by the Court either as fines or forfeiture. (Def. Ex. #1)

On the 31st day of October, 1979, the Summit County Attorney's Office caused a Complaint and Summons to be issued against Max D. Giles for wreckless operation of a motor vehicle in violation of section 73-18-12(1) at Echo Reservoir on July 29, 1979. (R., P.4) This charge was for the same factual situation on which the citation was issued. The County Attorney conceded on the Court record that the citation and the Complaint were for the same incident. (Transcript, p.12) The Court record will reflect that at no time did the County Attorney's office make a motion to amend the citation to allege wreckless operation of a boat.

The charge of wreckless operation of a motor boat was set for trial before the Honorable Larry Keller for the 13th day of February, 1980 at 9:30 A.M. At the time of the trial setting, the defendant, by and through his attorney, made a motion before the Court asking that the Complaint charging wreckless operation of a motor boat be dismissed because of the single criminal episode statute contained in section 76-1-401 through 403, Utah Code Annotated. (T., p. 4-7) This motion was denied by Judge Keller on the basis that the bail on the exceeding a wakeless speed had not been forfeited. (T., p. 8&9) Judge Keller indicated that he had not personally approved the forfeiture and consequently, there was no forfeiture of bail on that citation. On the 19th day of April, 1979, Judge Floyd H. Gowans, the presiding Judge

of the Fifth Circuit Court, issued an administrative order which established a bail schedule which was to become effective on May 7, 1979. (R., p.64-69) That bail schedule established bail for operating a motor boat in excess of a slow wakeless speed at \$25.00.

After the Court denied the defendant's motion for dismissal based on the single criminal episode, the defendant made a motion before the Court that the charge of exceeding a slow wakeless speed either be dismissed or tried before the wreckless operation of a motor boat charge. (T., p.9 & 12) Judge Keller denied this motion on the basis that there was no charge before his Court charging that the defendant had exceeded a slow wakeless speed. (T., p.10 & 13) The defendant then moved the Court to return to the defendant his \$25.00, but the Court denied this motion on the basis that the \$25.00, which was then in the hands of the Park and Recreation Department, was in fact bail for the wreckless operation of a motor boat charge. (T., p.17 & 18)

Prior to the actual trial of the case, the defendant moved the Court for a dismissal of the action on the basis that the statute under which the defendant was charged with wreckless operation of a motor boat was unconstitutionally vague. The statute in question provided that a person was guilty of wreckless operation of a motor boat if he operated the motor boat in a wreckless or negligent manner. This motion was denied by the Judge. (T., p.18-21)

The testimony presented at the trial indicated that the defendant was operating his motor boat outside of the buoys which marked the wakeless speed area surrounding the dock. (T., p.86, L.10-16, p.63, L.10) The defendant's boat was travelling at approximately three-quarter throttle and the defendant was paralleling the docking area outside of the buoys while he was observing the docks to see if the trailer was in position so that he could remove his boat from the water. (T., p.86, L.17 through p.89, L.15) The defendant and one of his passengers both testified that they observed a boat ahead of them and to the right motionless in the water and an individual attempting to put on water skis. The defendant then directed his attention back to the dock and his trailer. After looking in that direction he again looked forward and was momentarily blinded by the sun reflecting off his windshield. (T., p.94, L.3 through p.95, L.23) As soon as he could focus his eyes, he became aware of the fact that the boat that had been sitting still in the water had accelerated at a rapid speed and pulled into his path. (T., p.20, L.3-10, p.61, L.9 through p.64, L.20; p.86, L.25 through p.87, L.12) About the time the defendant became aware of this, his passenger also noticed the boat and yelled for the defendant to change his course. (T., p.55, L. 5 through p.57, L.16; p.61, L.6 through p.62, L.14) The defendant then immediately turned his boat to the



right as sharp as possible missing the motor boat which had pulled in front of him and hit the skis of the water skier throwing him into the water. The prosecution did not have present either the operator of the other boat or the passenger of the other boat. The only witnesses available for the prosecution were the passenger of the defendant's boat, the water skier and one of the water skier's relatives who had been standing on the shore approximately 150 yards away. The water skier testified that he had not seen the defendant's boat until the time of the impact. (T., p.67, L.13-18) The state witnesses acknowledged that the boat that had been stopped and the boat which was towing the water skier took off at full speed and travelled into the path of the defendant's boat. (T., p.30, L.3-10; p.61, L.9 through p.64, L.20; p.86, L.25 through p.87, L.12)

Judge David B. Dee, when reviewing this matter on appeal, issued a Memorandum Decision in which he did not comment on any of the facts or issues of law presented on appeal except to state that

. . .the State is not prohibited from prosecuting the defendant because of the single criminal episode statute and that the statute under which this defendant was tried is not unconstitutionally vague nor was the evidence insufficient to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of violating the statute in question.

## A R G U M E N T

### POINT I

THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS OF  
DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

It is the contention of the defendant, under Section 76-1-401, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, that the state is prohibited from subsequent prosecutions if a person has been penalized for an offense arising out of the same criminal episode. Section 76-1-401, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, defines a single criminal episode as all conduct which is closely related in time and in incident to an attempt or an accomplishment of a single criminal object. At the time of the trial before the circuit court, Judge Keller stated on record that there was no question but that exceeding a wakeless speed and the wreckless operation of a motor boat were in fact results of a single criminal episode. (T., p.6, L.14-23) The county attorney did not content otherwise. Judge Keller, however, stated that he had not personally approved the forfeiture and therefore, no jeopardy had attached and consequently, the prosecution for the wreckless operation of a motor boat was not prohibited. (T., p.24 through p.25, L.17)

As indicated in the Statement of Facts, the defendant was sent a letter by the circuit court stating that he could forfeit bail on the citation of exceeding a wakeless speed and that the case would be closed. In addition, the circuit court had established a bail schedule by court order. Pursuant thereto the clerk of the court accepted the bail forwarded by

the defendant providing the defendant with a receipt from the Fifth Circuit Court indicating that the bail had been forfeited as a fine. The money was then transmitted to the Parks and Recreation Department and that department took the money and presently has it in its coffer. Approximately one month thereafter the county attorney's office issued a new complaint charging wreckless operation of a motor boat at the same time, place and based upon the same circumstances.

It is the position of the defendant that the State of Utah is absolutely barred from instigating a separate complaint in light of the fact that it accepted a bail forfeiture on a criminal citation which involved a single criminal episode. It is also the position of the defendant that the judge having established a bail schedule and having authorized the clerk to forward a letter to defendants coming before the court authorizing them to forfeit bail cannot at a later date claim that the bail forfeiture has no consequences because he personally did not approve it. It was an established practice of this circuit court as well as all other circuit courts to allow bail forfeitures without personal approval of the individual judges. It should be noted that the Parks and Recreation Department still has the defendant's forfeited bail and to this date has not returned it to him.

After Judge Keller refused to dismiss the wreckless operation charge as requested by the defendant, the defendant moved the court to either dismiss the exceeding a wakeless speed charge or to try it prior to the wreckless operation of

a motor boat charge. Judge Keller refused to do so indicating that there was no such charge pending before the court. Section 77-11-9 indicates that a citation which is filed with the magistrate may be used in lieu of a complaint to which a person may plead guilty or on which bail may be posted and forfeited. The court has ruled that the bail has not been forfeited on that citation and has refused to either dismiss the citation or proceed with a trial on it. The court obviously made this ruling because it realized that if the defendant was found guilty on the citation or if the citation was dismissed, the court would be prohibited from proceeding on the wreckless operation of a motor vehicle charge. For some reason Judge Keller had determined that the defendant would be tried on the latter charge regardless of what the law or rules of procedure had to say about the matter.

The evidence produced at the time of the trial demonstrated that the defendant was operating his motor boat outside of the wakeless area on Echo Reservoir. He was proceeding in a direct line of traffic at a constant rate of speed. A boat which was towing a water skier was sitting in the water to the defendant's right. While the defendant was in full view, the other boat started up and pulled directly into the path of the defendant's vehicle causing a collision between the defendant's boat and the water skier being pulled by the other boat. Based upon this

information Judge Keller found that the defendant was guilty of wreckless operation of a motor boat and sentenced him to thirty days in jail.

It is the position of the defendant that Judge Keller's actions and Judge Dee's confirmation of those actions by denying the defendant's appeal constitute a violation of the defendant's right of due process of law as provided by both the state and federal constitutions.

## POINT II

THE STATUTE CHARGING THE DEFENDANT WITH WRECKLESS OPERATION OF A MOTOR BOAT IN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

Title 73, Chapter 18, Section 12-1, of the Utah Code Annotated, states that a person is guilty of the wreckless operation of a motor boat if he operates the motor boat in a wreckless or negligent manner so as to endanger the life, limb or property of another. This statute incorporates two separate definitions. One is the wreckless operation of a motor boat and the other is the negligent operation. The state code does not give any definition for wreckless or negligent operation of a boat. Consequently, it of necessity incorporates the definitions of civil law negligence. There is a substantial difference between wreckless operation and negligent operation. The negligent operation of a boat could include such things as failing to keep a proper lookout, failing to yield right-of-way and other violations which under criminal law constitute lesser offenses which do not

that the statute in question is unconstitutionally vague and that consequently, the defendant cannot be prosecuted under it or convicted under it.

#### CONCLUSION

The Judge committed prejudicial error and denied the defendant his due process of law when he failed to dismiss the wreckless operation of a motor vehicle charge. The Court accepted and forfeited the defendant's bail on the citation charging him with exceeding a wakeless speed and the wreckless operation of a motor boat charge grew out of a single criminal episode, and was, therefore, barred by Section 76-1-403, Utah Code Annotated.

The statute under which the defendant was prosecuted, wreckless operation of a motor boat, was unconstitutionally vague in that it permitted the Judge to find the defendant guilty of wreckless operation on the basis of failing to yield right-of-way and failing to keep a proper look-out, both of which are, in fact, criminal violations of lesser severity.

WHEREFORE, the defendant requests that the Court reverse the decision of the lower court finding the defendant not guilty as charged.