1981

State of Utah v. Max D. Giles : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the affirmance of an appeal to the Third District Court from a criminal conviction of the Defendant-Appellant in the circuit court.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The defendant-appellant was found guilty in the Fifth Circuit Court, Coalville, Department, by Judge Larry R. Keller, of wreckless operation of a motor boat in violation of § 73-18-12(1); the conviction was appealed to the District Court, and was affirmed by Judge David B. Dee.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Affirmance of the decisions of the district and circuit courts.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was issued a citation for exceeding a slow wakeless speed within 100 feet of another boat; appellant promised to appear thereon at the Summit County Courthouse by August 14, 1979 (R. at 1). By August 15, 1979, appellant failed to appear and a bench warrant was issued for his arrest with the bail set at \$50.00 (R. at 3). Later that day, apparently, \$25.00 was received in the mail by the clerk's office and the bench was not issued, but the bail was never forfeited on the case (R. at 3, Tr. at 9).

On October 31, 1979, a criminal complaint was issued charging the defendant with violation of Reckless Operation of a Motor Boat in violation of § 78-18-12(1), Utah Code Annotated (R. at 12). The appellant was duly arraigned on November 21, 1979, and a trial set for December 12, 1979 (R. at 5, 7). On December 11, 1979, an attorney enters an appearance and the trial is continued to another day. On the day of the trial, appellant for the first time orally moved to have the matter dismissed on the basis that he had already been prosecuted on the original citation

which was a part of the same criminal episode as the present complaint (Tr. at 4-6). The trial court held that bail had never been forfeited on the original citation, thus there had been no adjudication, therefore the current prosecution was not barred by the single criminal episode statute (Tr. at 7-9). The trial went forward and the defendant was convicted as charged (Tr. at 21, 50). Appellant appealed the conviction to the District Court and Judge David B. Dee affirmed the conviction (Tr. at 78).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE MERE POSTING OF BAIL FOR APPEARANCE
ON A CRIMINAL OFFENSE IS NOT AN ADJUDICATION
OF GUILT BARRING PROSECUTION FOR OFFENSES
ARISING OUT OF THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE.

The posting of bail for appearance on a criminal offense is merely a procedure to insure the appearance of the defendant at the time of trial. On very minor offenses, if a person fails to appear as promised, a court may merely forfeit the bail as a matter of judicial economy in lieu of issuing a warrant for the arrest of the person for his failure to appear. There is no constitutional or other requirement placed on courts to forfeit bail; and such forfeitures are discretionary with the court. Obviously, a forfeiture of bail cannot take place until after the time set for the appearance of the defendant has expired, because

a criminal defendant has a right to an appropriate arraignment on the charge(s) and a trial. In the present case, at the time of the appearance of defendant before the court, through his duly authorized attorney, the court had not forfeited the bail which was posted to assure the defendant's appearance.

The court explicitly explained to appellant:

On this case, bail was posted. As you know, the legal status of bail is to insure the defendant's appearance in court. And this court has adopted the procedure that when forfeited by the court, then it constitutes an adjudication of the offense.

However, this court specifically did not order forfeiture of bail. No forfeiture of bail appears in the file. The record also shows that a citation was issued to the defendant appellant requiring him to appear by August 14, 1979. (R. at 1).

(emphasis added.) On August 15, 1979, the matter was called up by the court and a minute entry shows that defendant: "Failed to appear prior to August 14. Bench warrant to issue. Bail set at \$50.00." (R. at 3.) Apparently later that day a check for \$25.00 did arrive, because there is a handwritten note that the bench warrant did not issue (R. at 3). The \$25.00 bail was never forfeited by the court as indicated by the record and the court above.

Although appellant's bail was never forfeited, appellant tries to make some significance of the fact that

a bail schedule had been established by the court. (App. Br. at 7.) The State submits that no significance can or should attach to the fact that a bail schedule is issued from any court to clerks of the court, to jail personnel in charge of custody, or to whomever. Many bail schedules include amounts of bail for extremely serious felonies and serious misdemeanors. However, the fact that a schedule is established and jail personnel are able to release individuals who post the appropriate scheduled amount does not deprive the court having jurisdiction over that serious misdemeanor or felony from the discretion to have the defendant personally appear at the time that he has promised to do so. Yet appellant's reasoning would cause such a result.

Even if the defendant-appellant had failed to appear at court, and even though the local practice of the court may have been to forfeit bail on minor offenses instead of requiring the appearance of the defendant at court, the State submits that the court is and should be clothed with the discretion to require the appearance of a defendant instead of forfeiting bail.

The appellant also tries to lend significance to the fact that the bail money may have been sent to the Division of Wildlife Resources. The court explained the matter as follows:

And if, in fact, the twenty five dollars was sent to the division of wildlife resources, it was done so without my knowledge and would've been in error because it was set as bail. And until it is formally forfeited, it ought not to be sent anywhere.

But, nevertheless, those are ministerial problems I think can be solved here, in this circuit court, and this court formally rules that there has not been an adjudication of this offense. (Tr. at 9).

The court then went on to state that since there had not been an adjudication, the State had the right to answer the complaint to charge the offense of reckless operation of a motor boat, and therefore appellant's motion to dismiss as a result of the single criminal episode was denied (Tr. at 9).

The mere fact that an appearance bond is posted and held by some agency awaiting further order of the court, does not constitute a forfeiture of the bail, which could be considered an adjudication, until the defendant has failed to appear and the judge specifically entered an order forfeiting the bail instead of requiring the appearance of the defendant.

§ 76-1-403, Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended, clearly defines the only instances in which a former prosecution bars a subsequent prosecution for a crime arising out of the same criminal episode:

76-1-403. Former prosecution barring subsequent prosecution for offense out of same episode.—(1) If a defendant has been prosecuted for one or more offenses arising out of a single criminal episode, a subsequent prosecution for the same or a different offense arising out of the same criminal episode is barred if:

(a) The subsequent prosecution is for an offense that was or should have been tried under section 76-1-402(2) in the former prosecution; and

(b) The former prosecution:

- (i) Resulted in acquittal; or
- (ii) Resulted in conviction; or
- (iii) Was improperly terminated; or
- (iv) Was terminated by a final order or judgment for the defendant that has not been reversed, set aside, or vacated and that necessarily required a determination inconsistent with a fact that must be established to secure conviction in the subsequent prosecution.

The statute continues by defining the terms used in § 76-1-403

(1)(b)(i)(ii)(iii) and (iv), above. In the present case, clearly, there had not been an acquittal, a conviction, an improper termination, or a termination by final order that required a determination inconsistent with that necessary for a conviction. Thus the single criminal episode statutes to which appellant refers, and upon which appellant relies defeat his own argument. (App. Br. at 7).

POINT II

THE INTENT REQUIRED BY § 73-18-12(1)
UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953 AS AMENDED,
IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

Section 73-18-12(1) defines the crime under which appellant was convicted, and states:

No person shall operate any motor boat . . . in a reckless or negligent manner so as to endanger the life, limb, or property of any person.

Appellant inappropriately avers that the Utah State Code does not give a definition for "reckless" or "negligent," therefore those terms must incorporate the definitions of civil law (App. Br. at 10). That is not the case. The criminal code at Section 76-2-103, Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended, specifically defines the terms "recklessly" and "with criminal negligence." Both of these definitions apply to § 73-18-12(1), under which the defendant was convicted, in spite of the fact that that offense is not defined in the general criminal code (76-1-101, et seq.). Section 76-1-103 specifically states that "the provisions of this code shall govern the construction of, the punishment for . . . any offense defined outside this code." Thus the definition of "recklessly" and "with criminal negligence" in § 76-2-103 would apply to the present case.

It should be noted that the court below specifically found "reckless" conduct on the part of the defendant and thus any discussion of negligence is moot as to this case:

And the court sees that as reckless disregard, in addition to the fact that he was within thirty feet of that boat before he even realizes it's there.

Therefore, I find the defendant guilty as charged, of the offense of reckless operation of a motor boat. (Tr. at 109.)

(Emphasis added.)

Certainly there is nothing in the record to indicate that any civil definition of negligence was applied in this case by the court, especially in view of the fact that the court specifically found reckless conduct.

Even if the record were silent as to whether or not reckless conduct were found, and even if some type of speculation were appropriate as to the standard used by the Court, a person such as Judge Keller who acted for many years as legal defender for Salt Lake County, and was in the full-time practice of criminal law before going on the bench, would be presumed to have known the appropriate definitions of recklessness and with criminal negligence.

The definition of the crime under which appellant was charged, and the definition of "recklessly" in the code

put a person of average intelligence on notice of the conduct proscribed.

There is no indication that the question of the requisite intent was raised in the trial court level. Because of the lack of contemporaneous objection, the matter should not now be considered on appeal.

POINT III

THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE IN THE PRESENT CASE IS NOT BEFORE THIS COURT, AND EVEN IF IT WERE, THE RECORD IS SUFFICIENT FOR A CONVICTION.

This Court has long established the rule that it will not review appeals taken from a circuit court to the district court unless there is some constitutional question involved. The State submits that the only two constitutional issues raised by appellant were dealt with in Points I and II and that sufficiency of the evidence is not a constitutional issue. Even if the Court were to look at the facts in this case, the State submits there is sufficient evidence upon which to convict the defendant. Quoting merely from the judge's findings briefly to indicate the type of evidence considered:

He tells us, by his own statement, that he sees the boat in the water with the water-skier. The testimony from the witness on shore is he's proceeding either in a straight line or an arc in the direction of that boat and the further testimony is that, by his own testimony, he was 100 yards away when he first saw that, which is only 300 feet.

And then, for some inexplicable reason, the next time he sees that boat, he's 30 feet away, he has to turn to avoid the collision and rams a waterskier and probably is very fortunate that the skier was not killed in this case. (Tr. at 108.)

The State submits that there is certainly sufficient evidence to uphold the conviction even if that were an appropriate consideration for this Court.

CONCLUSION

The bail posted on the original citation was never forfeited; therefore, nothing barred prosecution of the defendant for any crimes arising out of the same criminal episode. The definition of "recklessly" which has been upheld by this Court on many occasions, is not unconstitutionally vague or overbroad, and was used by the lower court in determining appellant's guilt. Sufficiency of the evidence is not before this Court, but even if it were, the evidence was patently sufficient for conviction.